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TO DEFENDANT AND COUNTERCLAIMANT RMG TECHNOLOGIES, INC.:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT plaintiff and counterclaim-defendant
Ticketmaster L.L.C. (“Ticketmaster”) and counterclaim-defendant
IAC/InterActiveCorp (“IAC,” erroneously sued as “IAC/Interactive Corp.”) hereby
apply, pursuant to Rule 55 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and Rule 55 of
the Local Rules for the Central District of California, for entry of a default
judgment and permanent injunction in their favor and against defendant and
counterclaimant RMG Technologies, Inc. (“RMG”). This application is made on
the grounds that the Court has entered a default against RMG, stricken RMG’s
Answer to Ticketmaster’s First Amended Complaint, dismissed RMG’s Second
Amended Counterclaims with prejudice, and ordered Ticketmaster and IAC to
submit a proposed default judgment to the Court no later than June 9, 2008.

As part of the proposed judgment, Ticketmaster seeks the entry of a
permanent injunction to prohibit RMG and all persons acting for its benefit or on its
behalf from (1) creating, trafficking in, facilitating the use of or using computer
programs or other automatic devices to circumvent the technological copy
protection systems in Ticketmaster’s website; (2) using information gained from
access of Ticketmaster’s website to create computer programs to circumvent
Ticketmaster’s copy protection and website regulation systems; (3) copying or
facilitating the copying of portions of Ticketmaster’s website in excess of any
license Ticketmaster has granted; (4) otherwise accessing and using Ticketmaster’s
website in excess of the license granted by the Terms of Use posted thereon; and (5)
breaching or facilitating the breach by others of the Terms of Use posted on
Ticketmaster’s website, as they may be amended from time to time. Ticketmaster
also seeks to require the impoundment and destruction of all copies of all bots,
programs, or other automatic devices used by RMG and all persons acting for its

benefit or on its behalf to violate Ticketmaster’s rights.
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Also as part of the proposed judgment, Ticketmaster seeks an award of
damages in the amount of $18,237,200, comprised of $10,237,200 based on
Ticketmaster’s Eighth Claim for Relief for inducement to breach contract and Ninth
Claim for Relief for intentional interference with contractual relations, and $8
million based on Ticketmaster’s First Claim for Relief for copyright infringement
and 17 U.S.C. Section 504.

Also as part of the proposed judgment, Ticketmaster seeks an award of
attorneys’ fees under 17 U.S.C. Sections 505 and 1203(a)(5) based on the First
Claim for Relief for copyright infringement and the Second Claim for Relief for
violation of the Digital Millennium Copyright Act, California Penal Code Section
502(e) based on the Fourth Claim for Relief for violation of the California Penal
Code Section 502, and 18 U.S.C. Section 1964 based on the Fifth and Sixth Claims
for Relief for violation of RICO, 18 U.S.C. Sections 1962(c) and 1962(d). This
application seeks fees in an amount to be calculated by reference to the fee schedule
in Local Rule 55-3, without waiver of any right by Ticketmaster or IAC to seek
actual attorneys’ fees upon entry of a default judgment. Based on damages of
$18,237,200, the amount of attorneys’ fees recoverable under the Rule 55 schedule
would be $368,344.

Ticketmaster and IAC have provided notice of this application to
RMG on June 3, 2008 by mailing a copy of the application to RMG’s Chief
Executive Officer, C.J. Garibay, at the address where RMG’s former counsel served
its motion to withdraw as counsel from the case.

This application is based on this Notice of Application and
Application, the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the attached
declarations of Donald R. Brown and Kevin McLain, the May 29, 2008 Order
entering default against RMG, the May 30, 2008 Order requiring Ticketmaster and
IAC to submit a proposed judgment on or before June 9, 2008, the proposed

Judgment and Permanent Injunction submitted concurrently herewith, all pleadings,
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

. INTRODUCTION
This Court has already entered a default against RMG. Ticketmaster

and IAC now seek entry of a default judgment, including a permanent injunction
and an award of damages and attorneys’ fees, to end this action.

As alleged in Ticketmaster’s First Amended Complaint, RMG designs,
manufactures, distributes and supports automated devices that enable its customers
to jump to the front of the line on Ticketmaster’s website, thus denying legitimate
consumers a fair opportunity to buy tickets. Ticketmaster has asserted claims
against RMG for copyright infringement, violation of the Digital Millennium
Copyright Act, violation of the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act, violation of
California Penal Code Section 502, violation of the Racketeer Influenced and
Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICQO”), breach of contract, inducing breach of
contract, intentional interference with contractual relations, fraud, and aiding and
abetting fraud. Ticketmaster’s First Amended Complaint seeks a permanent
Injunction, compensatory damages, treble damages, punitive damages,
disgorgement of RMG’s ill-gotten gains, imposition of a constructive trust, and
recovery of attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by Ticketmaster to prosecute this
lawsuit.

Entry of a permanent injunction at this time is necessary and
appropriate. Earlier in this case, the Court entered a preliminary injunction based
on the irreparable harm RMG’s automated devices were causing to Ticketmaster
and the public. The same factors that warranted entry of a preliminary injunction
against RMG still apply. A permanent injunction is needed to ensure that RMG
does not recommence infringing activity after judgment is entered.

Ticketmaster also respectfully requests damages in the amount of
$18,237,200, comprised of $10,237,200 based RMG’s inducement to breach

contract and interference with contractual relations, and $8 million based on profits

NOTICE OF APPLICATION AND
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derived by RMG through its direct and contributory copyright infringement. In
confining its request for damages to these claims and in these amounts in the
interest of judicial economy, Ticketmaster is not waiving any right or contention
regarding other damages as alleged in the First Amended Complaint.

Ticketmaster further requests an award of attorneys’ fees in
accordance with the schedule in Local Rule 55-3, based on Ticketmaster’s claims
under copyright laws, the Digital Millennium Copyright Act, California Penal Code
Section 502, and civil RICO. In seeking fees under the Local Rule 55-3 schedule,
neither Ticketmaster nor IAC is waiving any right to apply for actual fees upon
entry of the requested default judgment.

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS
There are three primary factual bases for the relief requested in this

application: (i) the allegations of the First Amended Complaint, (ii) evidence
previously submitted in support of Ticketmaster’s motion for a preliminary

injunction, and (iii) additional evidence submitted with this application.

A. The Allegations of the First Amended Complaint Are Deemed
1rue Because a Detault Has Been Entered.

On April 8, 2008, the Court granted the motion of RMG’s counsel to
withdraw as counsel. RMG is a corporation and thus can neither prosecute claims
nor defend against claims except through counsel. After RMG failed to retain new
counsel within a reasonable time, Ticketmaster and IAC moved to enter default
against RMG, and that motion was granted on May 29, 2008. The Court ordered
that a default be entered against RMG, that RMG’s Answer to the First Amended
Complaint be stricken, and that RMG’s Second Amended Counterclaims be
dismissed with prejudice. On May 30, 2008, the Court ordered Ticketmaster and
IAC to file a proposed judgment “immediately” and in no event later than June 9,
2008.

NOTICE OF APPLICATION AND
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Because a default has been entered, the factual allegations in the First
Amended Complaint must be treated as true. TeleVideo Sys., Inc. v. Heidenthal,
826 F.2d 915, 917-18 (9th Cir. 1987), quoting Geddes v. United Financial Group,
559 F.2d 557, 560 (9th Cir. 1977) ("The general rule of law is that upon default the
factual allegations of the complaint, except those relating to the amount of

damages, will be taken as true.").

B. The Facts Which Supported Entry of a Preliminary Injunction
AIlso Support Entry of a Permanent Injunction.

This Court entered a preliminary injunction against RMG on October
16, 2007, and entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in support of its
preliminary injunction ruling on October 26, 2007. See Ticketmaster L.L.C. v.
RMG Technologies, Inc., 507 F. Supp. 2d 1096 (C.D. Cal. 2007).

All of the facts and supporting evidence discussed below were
previously submitted to the Court in support of Ticketmaster’s preliminary
injunction motion, and thus have previously been considered by the Court in
substantial detail. Rather than re-file this extensive evidence, Ticketmaster will
merely cite to it by reference to previous filings which contain the evidence and the
Courts” Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Ticketmaster will also cite to
now-admitted allegations in the First Amended Complaint that support these facts.

1. Ticketmaster And Its Website

Ticketmaster distributes tickets for live entertainment events to the
general public on behalf of Ticketmaster’s clients, which are venues, promoters,
entertainers and sports franchises. Those clients contract with Ticketmaster to
distribute their tickets because of Ticketmaster’s demonstrated ability to do so
quickly, efficiently and fairly. (Declaration of Kevin McLain, dated August 24,
2007 and filed August 27, 2007 (Docket No. 28) in support of motion for
preliminary injunction (“August 24, 2007 McLain Decl.”) { 2; Findings of Fact and

NOTICE OF APPLICATION AND
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Conclusions of Law (Docket No, 61) (“Findings”), Fact No, 1; First Amended
Complaint (“FAC”) 1 11.)*

Ticketmaster sells tickets through various distribution channels,
including its  website, viewable at  “http://www.ticketmaster.com”
(“ticketmaster.com™). Ticketmaster created its website for consumers who want to
purchase event tickets for their own, personal use. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl.
1 3; Findings, Fact No. 1; FAC 1 11.)

Consumers generally must first visit ticketmaster.com’s home page,
and then navigate through a series of web pages, to buy tickets. Consumers
navigate through those pages by clicking on designated hypertext “links” located on
each of those pages, culminating in a ticket purchase page. Viewing any
Ticketmaster web page causes electronic copies of each of those pages to be created
and to appear on a user’s computer screen. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. | 4;
Declaration of Adam Lieb (Docket No. 28) in support of motion for preliminary
injunction (“Lieb Decl.”) 1 8; Findings, Fact No. 3; FAC Y 20.) Ticketmaster has
obtained copyright registrations for various versions of its website or portions
thereof, including registrations for its home page, event purchase pages, and access
control and copy protection systems. (Declaration of Mark S. Lee (Docket No. 28)
in support of motion for preliminary injunction (“Lee Decl.”) 1 2; August 24, 2007
McLain Decl. {1 5 and Exh. 2; Findings, Fact No. 11 and Concl. No. 3; FAC { 15.)

2. Demand For Tickets

The number of tickets available for purchase for any particular event is
determined by Ticketmaster’s clients.  Demand for tickets sold through
ticketmaster.com often exceeds the supply of tickets available for purchase. Such

high demand for entertainment events inspires intense competition to purchase

! Ticketmaster submitted several declarations by Kevin McLain in connection

with the preliminary injunction. Therefore, each McLain declaration discussed
above will be identified by date.

NOTICE OF APPLICATION AND
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tickets, because many consumers seek to acquire the same tickets to the same event
at the same time, i.e., when they go “on sale” on ticketmaster.com. Recognizing
this competitive reality, Ticketmaster tries to make the ticket buying process as fair
and equitable to consumers as possible. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. | 6; FAC
11 12-13))

3. Ticketmaster’s Technological Efforts To Maintain A Fair
Website

Ticketmaster has engaged in extensive technical efforts to make the
ticket purchasing process on ticketmaster.com as fair and equitable to consumers as
possible. Among other things, it tries to prevent the use of computer programs,
sometimes called “software robots” or “bots,” that provide an unfair advantage over
human consumers in the ticket purchasing process. It also blocks people who use
such programs to buy tickets when it discovers them. (August 24, 2007 McLain
Decl. 11 7-8, 22; Findings, Fact No. 16; FAC {1 13-14.)

One of the technical measures Ticketmaster has undertaken is a
security computer program, commonly known as CAPTCHA (“Completely
Automated Public Turing Test To Tell Computers And Humans Apart”), that is
designed to distinguish between human users and computer programs. With
CAPTCHA, a box appears on a user’s computer screen with stylized, partially
obscured random characters whenever a user submits a ticket request. The user
must retype those characters to proceed to purchase tickets. Most automated
devices cannot decipher and retype these random characters, and thus cannot
proceed past that screen to complete a ticket transaction. (August 24, 2007 McLain
Decl. § 9 and Exh. 3; Findings, Fact Nos. 16-18 and Concl. No. 25; FAC { 14.)

4. Ticketmaster’s Contractual Efforts To Maintain A Fair Website

Use of ticketmaster.com requires the acceptance of contractual

provisions that restrict access to the website and give consumers the fairest

NOTICE OF APPLICATION AND
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opportunity to purchase tickets from ticketmaster.com at the “face” price. The

ticketmaster.com home page prominently displays the following warning:

“Use of this website is subject to express Terms of Use
which prohibit commercial Use of this site. By continuing
past this page, you agree to abide by these terms.”

The underlined phrase “Terms of Use” on the home page is a readily visible
hypertext link that, when clicked, causes the full Terms of Use to appear on the
user’s screen. The same message and hyperlink appear on virtually every webpage
on ticketmaster.com. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. {1 10-11 and Exhs. 4-5;
Findings, Fact No. 3; FAC 11 16-17.)

Users of ticketmaster.com must affirmatively agree to the Terms of
Use to purchase tickets. Since 2003, users of ticketmaster.com have had to
affirmatively agree to Ticketmaster’s Terms of Use as part of the account setup
procedure. Since mid-2006, users have had to affirmatively agree to the Terms of
Use every time they purchase tickets. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. 11 12-13 and
Exhs. 6-7; Findings, Fact No. 3; FAC {{ 18-19.)

Ticketmaster’s Terms of Use act as a license agreement that describes,
inter alia, when and under what conditions a user may permissibly access and copy
pages from ticketmaster.com. Among other things, the Terms of Use permit access
only for personal use, prohibit commercial use of Ticketmaster’s website, prohibit
the use of “bots” and other computer programs to access ticketmaster.com, and
prohibit unauthorized use of the site. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. § 14 and Exh.
8; Findings, Fact No. 2 and Concl. Nos. 7, 9; FAC {1 20-24.)

The Terms of Use also prohibit consumers from purchasing more than
a specified number of tickets in a single transaction, pursuant to Ticketmaster’s
“ticket purchase policy.” The Terms of Use contain a hyperlink to and expressly
incorporate the ticket purchase policy. Ticket limits are meant to ensure that more

individuals have fair access to event tickets. The ticket limit for a particular event

NOTICE OF APPLICATION AND
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Is included on the event page and ticket purchase page. (August 24, 2007 McLain
Decl. § 15 and Exh. 9; FAC 1 25-26.)

5. Ticket Brokers

Certain individuals and entities have capitalized on the demand for
event tickets by circumventing Ticketmaster’s technical measures, breaching its
Terms of Use, and using computer programs to improperly access and copy
portions of Ticketmaster’s website. They do this to robotically “cut in line” in front
of human customers so they can acquire and resell tickets at prices far above that
designated by the sponsors of the event (the “face” price shown on the ticket).
Such persons, sometimes called “ticket brokers,” reduce the number of tickets
available for fans and customers at the “face” price. Ticketmaster has undertaken
the technical and legal measures described above to try to prevent such actions.
(August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. | 16; Findings, Fact No. 4; FAC { 28.)°

6. RMG’s Wrongful Conduct

RMG has developed marketed and sold approximately 21 computer
programs that enable its ticket broker customers to access Ticketmaster’s website,
block access to the best tickets, copy purchase pages, and quickly purchase large
quantities of tickets faster than human customers can. (Lee Decl. 1 3-5 and
Exhs. 10-12; August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. {25 and Exh. 1; Lieb Decl. 8 and
Exhs. 13-16; Declaration of Chris Kovach (Docket No. 28) in support of motion for
preliminary injunction (“Kovach Decl.”) § 3; Findings, Fact No. 4 and Concl. Nos.
12-13; see also FAC 1 28.) Those automated devices are designed to, and do, allow
RMG’s customers to covertly circumvent Ticketmaster’s access control and copy
protection systems, including CAPTCHA. (Kovach Decl. {1 5-9; August 24, 2007

2 This case is not about stopping ticket reselling. Ticketmaster has no
objection to ticket reselling that complies with applicable laws and the Terms of
Use of its website. Instead, this case is about fairness, and RMG’s use of technical
measures to improperly access Ticketmaster’s website, breach its Terms of Use,
and %IVQ its clients an unfair technological advantage over consumers in the ticket
purchasing process.

NOTICE OF APPLICATION AND
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McLain Decl. § 25 and Exh. 1; FAC { 30; see also Findings, Fact No. 10 and Concl.
Nos. 12-13.) RMG boasts that its programs “do the work of a dozen people at
once[,]” and employ “stealth technology” so its customers “never get blocked by
Ticketmaster.” (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. {25 and Exh. 1, emphasis in
original; Findings, Fact No. 6 and Concl. No. 13; see also FAC { 30.)

RMG had to visit, and thereby copy pages from, Ticketmaster’s
website to develop its computer programs. (Lieb Decl. §9; Findings, Fact Nos. 5,
13 and Concl. No. 8; FAC § 33.) RMG necessarily saw repeated reminders of the
Terms of Use each time it viewed a ticketmaster.com webpage during that process.
(August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. {f 9-12, Exhs. 4-6; Findings, Fact No. 13 and
Concl. Nos. 8, 27; FAC § 33.) RMG necessarily purchased tickets on
Ticketmaster’s website as part of the ongoing testing of its computer programs, and
has affirmatively clicked on the “accept” button on the ticket purchase page with
each purchase. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. §{ 12-13 and Exhs. 6-7; Lieb Decl.
1 9; Findings, Fact Nos. 5, 13; FAC { 33.) RMG’s unauthorized invasions into and
copying from Ticketmaster’s website exceed the scope of the license created by and
breach the Terms of Use. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. § 14 and Exh. 8;
Findings, Concl. Nos. 17, 27; FAC {{ 34 and 48.)

RMG also participates with its ticket broker customers in every
unauthorized access of Ticketmaster’s website and every breach of Ticketmaster’s
Terms of Use. RMG’s ticket broker customers do not acquire physical possession
of or download RMG’s software. Instead, they log onto RMG’s website at
“www.ticketbrokertools.com” and use a suite of devices and products available
there to improperly access Ticketmaster’s website in excess of the authorization
granted by Ticketmaster’s Terms of Use. (Kovach Decl. {4; August 24, 2007
McLain Decl., Exh. 1; Lieb Decl. 18 and Exhs. 13-16; FAC | 29-31; see also
Findings, Fact No. 9 and Concl. Nos. 12-13.)
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RMG provides a variety of online software schemes to maximize the
effectiveness of its “stealth technology.” (Kovach Decl. {1 5-9; McLain Decl. { 25,
Exh. 1; Lieb Decl. 1 8; FAC 11 29-30; see also Findings, Fact Nos. 9-10 and Concl.
Nos. 12-13.) Among other things, RMG utilizes a computer program known as a
“proxy server” to accomplish its goals and conceal its and its customers’ identities.
(Lieb Decl. § 8 and Exhs. 12, 14-16; Findings, Concl. Nos. 12-13.) Through the
proxy server, RMG rewrites ticketmaster.com’s own domain names to help it
overcome Ticketmaster’s technical protections. (Lieb Decl. {1 8.) Depending on the
level of service and features a customer purchases from RMG, it can use multiple
bots—sometimes hundreds of them—to simultaneously flood the Ticketmaster
website with requests for tickets. (Kovach Decl. § 5; Findings, Concl. No. 12; FAC
130.)

RMG and its customers purchase tickets on a massive scale, thereby
denying the public access to tens of thousands of the best tickets to many events.
One RMG customer alone placed about 9,500 orders to purchase almost 24,000
tickets using RMG’s technology; and while Ticketmaster does not know how many
customers RMG has, two other known RMG customers have purchased a total of
about 36,000 tickets, and RMG customers have purchased more than 65,800 tickets
so far in 2007 alone. Indeed, for one event, RMG’s customers acquired about 40%
of the tickets in one of the most desirable sections and 13% of all “floor” seats; they
also acquired significant portions of tickets to other events. (August 24, 2007
McLain Decl. § 24; see also Findings, Fact Nos. 7-8, 24; FAC {1 39-40.)

Further, RMG and its customers make millions of ticket requests, and
thus copy millions of copies of ticketmaster.com web pages, through their ticket
purchases. Ticketmaster tracked over 425,000 automated ticket requests from one
individual who used RMG technology on one day, and about 600,000 automated
ticket requests from another individual who used RMG technology on another day.

Ticketmaster estimates that RMG and the three identified RMG customers alone
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copied millions of pages in this manner to purchase the 60,000 tickets they bought
for resale. Consistent with that estimate, Ticketmaster has confirmed that millions
of automated ticket requests have been made to ticketmaster.com on many days,
with automated requests constituting up to 80% of all ticket requests made to
ticketmaster.com on some days. Ticketmaster also estimates that on one day after
this lawsuit was filed, RMG customers contacted ticketmaster.com at least once
every .25 seconds. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. 11 23-24, 27; Supplemental
Reply Declaration of Kevin McLain dated and filed October 5, 2007 (Docket No.
54) in support of motion for preliminary injunction (“October 5, 2007 McLain
Decl.”); see also Findings, Fact Nos. 7-8, 24 and Concl. No. 20; FAC 1 34.)

RMG conceals its actions from Ticketmaster in various ways. It
spreads its automated requests for tickets over multiple IP addresses to conceal the
source of its requests, and helps customers obtain new IP addresses from their
internet service providers. (Lieb Decl. § 8e; Kovach Decl. 1 11; Findings, Fact No.
10; FAC 11 36-37.) RMG also screens potential customers to ensure that they have
no affiliation with or loyalty to Ticketmaster and warns its customers not to
publicize the existence of RMG’s ticket buying services. If an existing customer
wishes to recommend RMG’s services to another broker, he or she is instructed to
provide the name of the potential customer to RMG, so that RMG may first screen
the potential customer before deciding whether to initiate contact. (Kovach Decl.
113, 12, and Exh. 18; Findings, Fact No. 10; FAC { 32.)

If a customer encounters any obstacle in securing tickets or
circumventing Ticketmaster’s security measures, the customer may immediately
consult with an RMG representative to receive advice concerning how to obtain
Improper access to the Ticketmaster website. RMG also offers consulting services
to enable its customers to set up hardware, telecommunications equipment and
other tools to expand their invasion of Ticketmaster’s website. (Kovach Decl.

1 10-11; Findings, Fact No. 9; FAC { 31))
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7. The Harm Caused By RMG’s Wrongful Conduct
As described below, the use of automated devices to access

Ticketmaster’s website for commercial purposes causes ongoing expenses of
technical countermeasures, harm to Ticketmaster’s goodwill, and continued harm to
the public trying to obtain tickets. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. 1 8-9, 20-21,
30-35; Findings, Fact Nos. 19-22, 24-26 and Concl. No. 36; FAC 11 35-45.)

The massive volume of ticket requests strains Ticketmaster’s technical
systems, and forces Ticketmaster to incur significant expense to increase the scale
of its infrastructure to insure that its computer systems will remain functional in the
face of the overwhelming increase in traffic caused by automated ticket requests.
(August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. § 34; FAC  45.) Ticketmaster has been forced to
reassign its technical personnel from productive development tasks that would
improve the functionality of its website to technical measures to mitigate the harm
caused by these automated invasions, as well as discover who is invading its
computer systems. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. 1 20-21; FAC { 45.) It is
impossible for Ticketmaster to precisely calculate the costs it has incurred through
these efforts, but it easily amounts to more than hundreds of thousands of dollars
per year. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. § 21.)

Although Ticketmaster’s technical countermeasures have had some
success, automated intrusions continue, and Ticketmaster will continue to have to
incur significant expenses to combat this problem, and to divert precious resources
from important, more productive endeavors. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. 1 34-
35.) It is not realistic to believe that technical countermeasures, no matter how
expensive or extensive, can ever fully stop this problem.

RMG’s misconduct also injures Ticketmaster’s goodwill in ways that
are real but impossible to quantify, and in ways that are difficult if not impossible to
repair. Many consumers are unable to purchase event tickets from Ticketmaster at

the face price because ticket brokers using RMG’s programs have already blocked
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their access to and purchased such tickets. Such customers understandably become
frustrated and tend to blame Ticketmaster for the unavailability of these tickets.
(Declaration of Steven J. Obara (Docket No. 28) in support of motion for
preliminary injunction (“Obara Decl.”) { 4 and Exh. 19; Lee Decl. 1 7-8 and Exhs.
20-21; Findings, Fact Nos. 19-22; FAC 1 39-40.) Many complain to Ticketmaster,
and accuse Ticketmaster of colluding with brokers to divert tickets. (Obara Decl.
1 3-5 and Exh. 19.) Others complain in public forums, exacerbating the goodwill
problem. RMG’s actions also threaten to harm Ticketmaster’s client relationships
by impairing its ability to provide accurate ticket sales information and jeopardizing
the fairness of its online ticket purchasing system. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl.
111 36-41; Findings, Fact No. 25; FAC 1 40.)

Ticketmaster will suffer such harm as long as RMG and its customers
are permitted to use their computer programs to invade Ticketmaster’s website.
Further, the public will continue to be denied a chance to buy tickets at the “face”
price, and will continue to pay RMG’s customers’ inflated prices to acquire those

tickets, unless this Court permanently orders RMG to stop its misconduct.

C. Additional Facts Relevant to Ticketmaster’s Request for a
Permanent Injunction and Damages.

1. The Use of Automated Devices Has Continued.
In the time since the preliminary injunction was entered in October

2007, automated devices, including RMG’s, have continued to access
Ticketmaster’s website. (Declaration of Kevin McLain dated June 3, 2008,
attached hereto (“June 3, 2008 McLain Decl.”) 12.) As described in the
Declaration of Kevin McLain dated November 6, 2007 (Docket No. 66), two of
RMG’s customers, Thomas Prior and Gary Bonner, used RMG’s automated devices
to access Ticketmaster’s website in the weeks after the preliminary injunction was

entered.
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Prior, a defendant in a related action, has continued to use RMG’s
devices even up to the present. In verified discovery responses from the related
action, Prior explained that he only uses automated devices from RMG.
(Declaration of Donald R. Brown attached hereto (“Brown Decl.”) § 3 and Exh. 1.)
As a recent example, on May 13, 2008, Prior made 917 requests to Ticketmaster’s
website in a single hour from one IP address. That volume can only be achieved
through the use of automated devices. (June 3, 2008 McLain Decl. § 2.)

2. Other Harm Resulting From RMG’s Conduct.

The First Amended Complaint describes harm to Ticketmaster’s
website and infrastructure that was only briefly argued in support of the motion for
preliminary injunction but is relevant to the need for a permanent injunction. Every
ticket request to Ticketmaster’s website causes tickets to be placed temporarily on
reserve. When a large number of requests is made through an automated device,
not only is the inventory of tickets for legitimate consumers diminished, but
Ticketmaster’s ability to provide an important service to its clients is compromised.
Clients use the Ticketmaster system to monitor ticket sales activity to make a
variety of decisions, including whether to open more seats or move the seats to
other distribution channels. The artificially high volume of seats revolving in and
out of reserve status due to the use of automated devices makes it difficult to gauge
how well tickets for the event are actually selling, which in turn interferes with the
clients' ability to make the ongoing decisions that are based on sales activity. (FAC
7 40.)

In addition, Ticketmaster's website allocates traffic to various servers
through a load balancing program that is designed to ensure consumer requests are
processed equitably and that no consumer receives slower service merely because
his or her request was directed to one server rather than another. However, users of
automated devices bypass the load balancing program and target specific servers

directly with thousands of requests, thus interfering with the website's traffic
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allocation feature and putting some consumers whose requests were allocated to the
same server that was targeted by the automated device at risk of slower service.
(FAC 1 41.)

Further, Ticketmaster's website is part of a carefully crafted business
model that integrates other services and features into the ticket purchasing process.
The website is designed so that users will follow certain steps and will see certain
pages in the process of requesting and purchasing tickets. Based on this expected
flow of traffic, clients, advertisers and Ticketmaster itself offer particular services
or opportunities on particular pages, ranging from parking at the event to signing up
for client newsletters. However, automated devices, which do not use traditional
browsers, bypass the HTML code for these features, so the users of those devices
never even see these offers. These same offenders further exacerbate the problem
by purchasing enormous quantities of tickets, which diminishes the ticket inventory
for legitimate consumers and reduces the number of legitimate consumers who will
reach the pages that provide these up-sell opportunities. (FAC {42.)

Automated devices also alter the security features of the website itself
by accessing the Ticketmaster system at targeted points. Normally, users receive
automatic and temporary permission—in effect, a token—to make requests on the
system. That token is automatically revoked if the pace of requests exceeds a
certain limit. However, by systematically deleting cookies on the user's system,
automated devices enable the user to constantly assume a new identity and acquire
new tokens even though that same user is far exceeding the request limit. (FAC
43.)

3. RMG Has Profited from its Misconduct.

RMG has earned substantial revenue through its automated devices.
According to a March 2008 article in TicketNews—which was based on an
“exclusive interview” with RMG’s President, C.J. Garibay—RMG was “generating

more than $12 million in annual revenues.” (Brown Decl. { 4, Exh. 2.) Moreover,
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1 | during a videotaped May 13, 2008 interview on an ESPN news program, Garibay
2 || said that gross sales from RMG’s automated devices were $2 million in 2007.
3 | (Brown Decl. 11 5-6, Exhs. 3-4.) Even accepting the more conservative of these
4 | two figures, RMG has earned annual revenues of $2 million through its
5 | Ticketmaster-related automated devices.®
6 Assuming, arguendo, that RMG started marketing and distributing
7 | these devices at the beginning of 2004 (there is reason to believe RMG started
8 | sooner) and that RMG’s revenues from those devices ceased by the end of 2007,
9 | RMG has derived at least $8 million in revenue through these devices.
10 | 1. TICKETMASTER ISENTITLED TO A PERMANENT INJUNCTION
11 Ticketmaster is entitled to a permanent injunction under its breach of
12 | contract claim as well as the various statutory claims. The website’s Terms of Use
13 | expressly provide for injunctive relief in the event of a breach of the Terms of Use.
14 | Moreover, the following statutes provide for injunctive relief: 17 U.S.C. § 502
15 | (First Claim for Relief for copyright infringement); 17 U.S.C. § 1203 (Second
16 | Claim for Relief for violation of the Digital Millennium Copyright Act); 18 U.S.C.
17 | § 1030(g) (Third Claim for Relief for violation of the Computer Fraud and Abuse
18 | Act); California Penal Code § 502(e) (Fourth Claim for Relief for violation of the
19 | California Penal Code Sec 502); and 18 U.S.C. § 1964 (Fifth and Sixth Claims for
20 | Relief for violation of RICO, 18 U.S.C. 88 1962(c) and 1962(d)).
21 To obtain a permanent injunction, Ticketmaster “must demonstrate: (1)
22 | that it has suffered an irreparable injury; (2) that remedies available at law, such as
23 | monetary damages, are inadequate to compensate for that injury; (3) that,
24 | considering the balance of hardships between the plaintiff and defendant, a remedy
25 | in equity is warranted; and (4) that the public interest would not be disserved by a
26 | permanent injunction.” eBay, Inc. v. MercExchange, LLC, 547 U.S. 388, 126 S. Ct
20 ~ Because RMG has defaulted, Ticketmaster has not had the opportunity to
2g | obtain revenue figures from RMG in discovery. (Brown Decl. { 7.?
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1837, 1839-40 (2006). Such injunctions are routinely granted where copyright
infringement is shown. See, e.g., MAI Sys. Corp. v. Peak Computer, Inc., 991 F.2d
511, 520 (9th Cir. 1993) (“as a general rule, a permanent injunction will be granted
when liability has been established and there is a threat of continuing violations™).

RMG should be permanently enjoined under these criteria.

A. Ticketmaster Has Suffered Irreparable Injury.

RMG’s actions have significantly harmed Ticketmaster, and will
continue to cause harm if RMG is permitted to distribute its infringing software
products after termination of this case. Should that occur, Ticketmaster would once
again be faced with massive numbers of automated ticket requests that strain its
technical systems. Ticketmaster would again have to reassign technical personnel
from productive tasks that improve the functionality of its website to technical
measures to mitigate the harm caused by automated intrusions. (August 24, 2007
McLain Decl. § 21.) It would again be faced with frustrated consumers who are
denied a fair opportunity to buy tickets. (Obara Decl. and Exh. 20; Findings, Fact
Nos. 19-22 and Concl. No. 36.)

Moreover, Ticketmaster could again be faced with nationwide negative
publicity in which frustrated consumers mistakenly blame Ticketmaster for their
inability to get tickets. (Lee Decl.; Obara Decl. and Exhs. 19-20; Findings, Fact
Nos. 20-22.) Ticketmaster could again have to address governmental investigations
that are driven by the misimpression that Ticketmaster is colluding with ticket
brokers to deny the public a fair opportunity to buy tickets. (Declaration of Mark S.
Lee dated September 24, 2007 (Docket No. 49) in support of motion for
preliminary injunction (“Sept. 24, 2007 Lee Decl.”) and Exh. 24, pp. 46-47, and
Exhs. 25-26; Findings, Fact No. 22.) In addition, Ticketmaster would again risk
losing clients if they are publicly criticized for using Ticketmaster to sell their
tickets. (August 24, 2007 McLain Decl. 11 35-41; Findings, Fact No. 25.)
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Such losses are “irreparable” and support a permanent injunction.
Register.com, Inc. v. Verio, Inc., 126 F. Supp. 2d 238, 252 (S.D.N.Y. 2000), aff’d.,
356 F.3d 393, 404 (2d Cir. 2004) (potential harm from loss of customers and
uncertain but significant expense involved in insuring that computer system can
withstand unauthorized automated attacks constitute “irreparable” harm that
supports an injunction); Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Studios, Inc., v. Grokster, Ltd., 518
F. Supp. 2d 1197, 1215 (C.D. Cal. 2007) (hereinafter, “MGM”) (damage to brand
recognition and goodwill caused by infringement establishes permanent irreparable

harm that supports a permanent injunction).

B. Money Damages Are Inadequate.

Money damages are inadequate here because the monetary value of
harm caused by diversion of employee resources, and the harm to Ticketmaster’s
goodwill, while real and significant, cannot be computed with sufficient precision
to fully compensate Ticketmaster. Further, any future infringement by RMG and
future RMG customers would harm Ticketmaster in amounts that cannot now be
computed, and require future suits to obtain compensation. “A legal remedy is
inadequate if it would require a multiplicity of suits.” MGM, supra, 518 F. Supp.

2d at 1220 (internal quotations and citation omitted).

C. The Balance of Harms Favors an Injunction.

Ticketmaster will be significantly harmed if RMG is permitted to once
again distribute its computer programs that deny the public a fair chance to buy
tickets from the tickemaster.com website as described above. In contrast, the only
harm that RMG would suffer if a permanent injunction issues is that it would be
prevented from engaging in illegal conduct. Such “harm” is not cognizable under
applicable law. Triad Sys. Corp. v. SE. Exp. Co., 64 F. 3d, 1330, 1338 (9th Cir.
1995) (“when the only harm that defendant will suffer is lost profits from an
activity which has been shown . . . infringing, such an argument merits little

equitable consideration”) (internal citation omitted).
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The balance of harms thus favors a permanent injunction here. A
company that has built its business on infringing conduct has no equitable right to
continue the infringing conduct to survive. Otherwise, anyone could justify
infringing activities by claiming he or she needed to “avoid going out of business,”

and no permanent injunction could be obtained against a professional infringer.

D. The Public Interest Favors a Permanent Injunction.

“[T]he public interest is . . . served when the rights of copyright
holders are protected against acts constituting infringement.” MGM, supra, 518 F.
Supp. 2d at 1222. “An injunction is thus in the public interest; only if the
distribution of [RMG’s infringing software] is stopped can further fraud be
avoided.” Corning Glass Works v. Jeannette Glass Co., 308 F. Supp. 1321, 1328
(S.D.N.Y.), aff’d on the opinion below, 432 F.2d 784 (2nd Cir. 1970).

The public interest obviously favors a permanent injunction here.
RMG’s misconduct denied consumers the opportunity to purchase many event
tickets from Ticketmaster at the face price and instead forced them to purchase
tickets from RMG’s ticket broker clients at inflated prices. Such actions enrich
RMG and its clients at the public’s expense.

The public interest in an injunction is underscored by actions of the
Kansas City Council and Attorneys General of Missouri and Arkansas, as described
in connection with Ticketmaster’s motion for preliminary injunction. The Kansas
City Council held a televised hearing on September 20, 2007 to investigate whether
Ticketmaster was improperly withholding tickets from the public, and the
Attorneys General of Missouri and Arkansas launched investigations into
Ticketmaster’s distribution of tickets for the Hannah Montana concerts. (Sept. 24,
2007 Lee Decl. and Exh. 24, pp. 46-47, and Exhs. 25-26; Findings, Fact No. 22.)*

4 In the time since Ticketmaster moved for a preliminary injunction, other

states have also been in contact with Ticketmaster regarding possible investigations
into ticket distribution issues created by the use of automated devices. (June 3,
2008 McLain Decl. 15.)
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The public obviously is very interested in this issue, and the public
interest favors giving the public a fair chance to acquire as many tickets as possible
at the face price from ticketmaster.com’s website, as Ticketmaster and its clients

intend. A permanent injunction will help give the public that chance.

E. RMG Will Almost Certainly Continue Its Misconduct in the
ADbsence of a Permanent Injunction.

The volume of assaults decreased after a preliminary injunction was
entered in this case. (June 3, 2008 McLain Decl. § 2.) Nonetheless, the use of
automated devices has not disappeared, and there is evidence, discussed above, that
RMG’s automated devices continue to access Ticketmaster’s website. Without a
permanent injunction, there is a significant risk that the volume of automated
devices assaulting Ticketmaster’s website will only increase.

Therefore, Ticketmaster seeks a permanent injunction in the form
incorporated in the proposed judgment filed concurrently with this application.

IV. TICKETMASTER IS ENTITLED TO DAMAGES
The First Amended Complaint asserts a variety of claims for relief for

damages. In the interest of judicial economy, and without waiver of any rights or
contentions regarding other damages, Ticketmaster is only requesting damages for

its inducement/interference and copyright infringement claims.

A.  Ticketmaster is Entitled to Liquidated Damages from RMG’s
Inducement to Breach Contract and Intentional Tnterference with
Contractual Relations.

The Terms of Use for Ticketmaster’s website include a provision for
liquidated damages in the amount of $10 for every page request that exceeds 1000

page requests in a 24-hour period. (FAC §90.)° As alleged in the Seventh, Eighth

> The full provision reads as follows:
You agree that Abusive Use of the Site, as defined above,
causes damage and harm to Ticketmaster in the form of
among other things, impaired goodwill, lost sales, an
increased expenses associated with responding to Abusive
Use of the Site. You further agree that monetary damages
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and Ninth Claims for Relief (breach of contract, inducement to breach contract, and
intentional interference with contractual relations), RMG was aware of this
provision in the Terms of Use and agreed to it when accessing Ticketmaster’s
website and requesting and purchasing tickets. (FAC 1 86, 95-96, 106.)

RMG breached the Terms of Use. (FAC 1 89.) RMG also induced its
customers to breach the Terms of Use by using RMG’s automated devices to access
Ticketmaster’s website and purchase tickets. (FAC 11 99-101.) In addition, RMG
intentionally interfered with the contractual relationships between Ticketmaster and
RMG’s customers who accessed Ticketmaster’s website through RMG’s automated
devices. (FAC 1 109-111.)

RMG is liable to Ticketmaster for damages resulting from this conduct.
Because the Terms of Use contain a liquidated damages clause, RMG is liable for
the liquidated damages resulting from its inducement to breach contract and its
interference with contractual relations. See GHK Assoc. v. Mayer Group, Inc., 224
Cal. App. 3d 856, 877 (1990) (measure of damages for inducement to breach
contract is the measure of damages applicable to the breach of contract); Seaboard
Music Co. v. Germano, 24 Cal. App. 3d 618, 622 (1972) (same); see also Western
Oil & Fuel Co. v. Kemp, 245 F.2d 633, 644-45 (8th Cir. 1957) (damages for

inducement to breach contract measured by liquidated damages clause in contract).

for Abusive Use of the Site are difficult to ascertain and
that proof of monetary damages for Abusive Use would
be costly and inconvenient to calculate. Accordingly you
agree_that liquidated damages are warranted for Abusive
se. Therefore, you agree that if you, or others actlng?1 in
concert with you, alone or collectively request more than
1000 pages of the Site in any twenty-four hour period,
you, an those_actln? in concert with 'you, will be jointly
and severally liable for liquidated damages in the amount
of ten dollars ($10.00) per pa%e request each time that a
age request is made after that first 1000 during that
wenty-four hour period.
(FAC 190.)
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The liquidated damages clause at issue here provides for damages to
the full extent of each customer’s request for web pages in excess of the 1000-page
limit for each 24-hour period. (FAC Y 102-03, 112-13.) W.ithout waiving any
right to recover damages for all of the times that RMG induced its customers to
breach the Terms of Use or interfered with that contract, Ticketmaster is only
seeking damages for two such instances.

As described above and in Ticketmaster’s motion for preliminary
injunction, Thomas Prior used RMG’s automated devices on May 26, 2007 to make
approximately 600,000 requests on Ticketmaster’s website. (August 24, 2007
McLain Decl. § 24; October 5, 2007 McLain Decl.) As further clarified in the
attached McLain Declaration, the precise number of page requests on that day was
600,569. (June 3, 2008 McLain Decl. 1 3.)

Similarly, Gary Bonner used RMG’s automated devices on May 21,
2007 to make approximately 425,000 requests on Ticketmaster’s website. (August
24, 2007 McLain Decl.  24; October 5, 2007 McLain Decl.) As further clarified in
the attached McLain Declaration, the precise number of page requests on that day
was 425,451. (June 3, 2008 McLain Decl. 1 4.)

At $10 per page request after the first 1000 requests, the total damage
figure for these two incidents alone is $10,237,200.

B. Ticketmaster is Also Entitled to Disgorgement of the Profits RMG
Derived By Infringing Ticketmaster’s Copyrights.

RMG is liable for direct and contributory copyright infringement under
Ticketmaster’s First Claim for Relief. This infringement was integral both to
RMG’s development of the automated devices and the use of those devices by
RMG’s customers. Whenever one of RMG’s automated devices copied a webpage
from Ticketmaster’s website, a copyright infringement occurred.

Under 17 U.S.C. Sections 504(a)(1) and (b), Ticketmaster can recover

the profits that RMG obtained through its direct and contributory infringement of
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Ticketmaster’s copyrights. RMG’s revenues from its infringing activity are at least
$8 million, as discussed above. Ticketmaster is entitled to damages in that amount,
except insofar as RMG can establish any offsetting costs. See 17 U.S.C. § 504(Db).

V. TICKETMASTERISENTITLED TO ATTORNEYS’ FEES
Ticketmaster seeks an award of attorneys’ fees pursuant to 17 U.S.C.

Section 505 based on its First Claim for Relief for copyright infringement, 17
U.S.C. Section 1203(a)(5) based on its Second Claim for Relief for violation of the
Digital Millennium Copyright Act, California Penal Code Section 502(e) based on
its Fourth Claim for Relief for violation of the California Penal Code Section 502;
and 18 U.S.C. Section 1964 based on its Fifth and Sixth Claims for Relief for
violation of RICO.

In this application, Ticketmaster only seeks fees in accordance with the
fee schedule in Local Rule 55-3, which first requires a determination of
Ticketmaster’s compensatory damages. Based on the compensatory damages
requested by Ticketmaster, the award of fees under the fee schedule would be
$368,344.°

VI. THERE IS NO NEED FOR AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.
The Court need not conduct an evidentiary hearing to enter a default

judgment. “If, in order to enable the court to enter judgment or to carry it into
effect, it is necessary . . . to establish the truth of any averment by evidence . . . the
court may conduct such hearings or other such references as it deems necessary.”
F.R.C.P. 55(b)(2) (emphasis added); see also Dundee Cement Co. v. Howard Pipe
& Concrete Prod., Inc., 722 F.2d 1319, 1323 (7th Cir. 1983) (“district court did not
abuse its discretion in determining that a hearing on the truth of any allegation

relating to liability was unnecessary”).

° Ticketmaster respectfully reserves its right under Local Rule 55-3 to seek

actual attorneys’ fees upon entry of a default judgment (which, depending on the
amount of compensatory damages awarded, may turn out to be unnecessary).
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